1986

William D. Blodgett and Florence G. Blodgett, his wife v. Joe Martsch, Betty Purcell, aka Betty Purcell Martsch : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

The issues presented on appeal relate to the ability of the plaintiffs to amend a final order of the Third Judicial District Court entered approximately six years earlier.

ISSUE NO. 1

May a party file a motion to amend a final order of the district court without first notifying the other party to appoint counsel when counsel for the moving party is aware that the other party is not currently represented by counsel?

ISSUE NO. 2

May a party file a motion to amend a final order of the district court entered approximately six years earlier pursuant

to Rule 60(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure?

ISSUE NO. 3

Is the Amended Order and Judgment of Quiet Title entered August 13, 1986 void because it purports to set aside the Order signed May 5, 1980 and to relate back and be effective as of May 5, 1980 in contravention of Rule 60(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure?

ISSUE NO. 4

Was the alleged error in the judgment entered May 5, 1980 a clerical error that could be corrected by motion pursuant to Rule 60(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure?

STATEMENT OF FACTS

For simplicity, references to pages in the record of Civil No. 223407 will be preceded by "R_I" and references to pages in the record of Civil No. C-78-8017 will be preceded by "R_{II}".

1. In 1971 plaintiffs-respondents and defendant-appellant entered into a transaction pursuant to which defendant-appellant and others acquired an interest in certain real property located in Salt Lake County, Utah (R_I 3).

2. In 1974 plaintiffs-respondents commenced a case against defendant-appellant and others (Civil No. 223407), seeking in their Amended Complaint a judgment against defendants in the sum of \$260,000 or reconveyance of the

subject real property. (R_I 221). In 1978 plaintiffs-respondents commenced a separate action against defendant-appellant and others (Civil No. C-78-8017) seeking a judgment requiring the defendants to convey the subject real property to plaintiffs or a judgment awarding plaintiffs the value of the property. (R_{II} 96). The trial court subsequently consolidated these actions. (R_I 555).

3. On or about March 20, 1980, plaintiffs and defendants executed a written stipulation regarding settlement and dismissal of the legal actions in the consolidated cases. Such Stipulation of Dismissal was prepared by counsel for plaintiffs. (R_I 991). A copy of such Stipulation of Dismissal is attached hereto.

4. On or about May 5, 1980, Judge Ernest F. Baldwin, signed an Order dismissing the cases with prejudice. Such Order was prepared by counsel for plaintiffs. (R_I 990). A copy of such Order is attached hereto.

5. In addition to the payments defendant-appellant had made to plaintiffs-respondents, plaintiffs-respondents received back the subject property with extensive improvements defendant-appellant had made on the property, which improvements had cost defendant-appellant in excess of \$50,000. (R_I 1109-1111).

6. On or about March 28, 1986 plaintiffs filed a Motion to Set Aside Order of Dismissal and Enter Judgment of Quiet Title. (R_I 1009).

7. On or about March 28, 1986 plaintiffs filed an Affidavit of Lester A. Perry in which Mr. Perry stated that Mr. Ronald A. Barker "indicated that he no longer represented Ms. Purcell and wants nothing to do with her." (R_I 1010).

8. Without giving defendant Pursell written notice to appoint another attorney or to appear in person, plaintiffs proceeded with their Motion to Set Aside Order of Dismissal and Enter Judgment of Quiet Title. (R_I 1110).

9. In plaintiffs' Memorandum of Points and Authorities in Support of Motion to Set Aside Order of Dismissal and Enter Judgment of Quiet Title, plaintiffs state in the first sentence of their argument:

Rule 60(b) allows the court to set aside an order or judgment for any reason justifying relief from the operation of the order or judgment. (R_I 1017).

10. Plaintiffs submitted to the Court an Order and Judgment of Quiet Title, which was executed by the Court and entered on May 13, 1986. (R_I 1037-1039). A copy of such Order and Judgment of Quiet Title is attached hereto.

11. Plaintiffs subsequently submitted to the Court an Order and Judgment of Quiet Title, which was executed by the Court and entered on August 13, 1986 with the handwritten notation "Amended." (R_I 1040-1042). A copy of such Amended Order and Judgment of Quiet Title is attached hereto.

12. On September 11, 1986 defendant Pursell filed a Motion to Set Aside Amended Order and Judgment of Quiet Title on the following grounds:

a. That plaintiffs failed to give defendant written notice to appoint counsel or appear in person as required by Utah Code Ann. Section 78-51-36 (1953).

b. That without notice to defendants plaintiff sought an Amended Order and Judgment of Quiet Title executed by the Court on August 13, 1986.

c. That a motion for relief of a final judgment or order pursuant to Rule 60(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure must be made "within a reasonable time," and for certain reasons must be made within 3 months after the order or judgment was taken.

d. That the Amended Order and Judgment of Quiet Title entered August 13, 1986 is void because it purports to set aside the Order signed May 5, 1980 and to relate back and be effective as of May 5, 1980 in contravention of Rule 60(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. (R_I 1055-1057).

13. On September 11, 1986 defendant Pursell filed an Ex Parte Motion to extend time to file Notice of Appeal. On the same date the Court entered its order extending time to file a Notice of Appeal to October 12, 1986, which date was 30 days after the prescribed time for filing a Notice of Appeal with respect to the Amended Order and Judgment entered August 13, 1986. (R_I 1048-1049).

14. On or about September 15, 1986 plaintiffs filed a Motion to Correct Clerical Error under Rule 60(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure and a Motion to Set Aside Order Extending Time to File Notice of Appeal. (R_I 1043-1044).

15. Without ruling on Defendant's Motion to Set Aside the Amended Order and Judgment of Quiet Title, Judge David B. Dee signed a third Order and Judgment of Quiet Title, which was entered September 26, 1986. (R_I 1091-1093). A copy of such Order and Judgment of Quiet Title is attached hereto.

16. Because the District Court had not ruled on defendant Pursell's motion to set aside the Amended Order and Judgment of Quiet Title entered August 13, 1986, defendant Pursell filed a Notice of Appeal on October 9, 1986 with respect to both the Amended Order and Judgment of Quiet Title entered August 13, 1986 and the Order and Judgment of Quiet Title entered September 26, 1986. (R_I 1097-1101).

17. On January 26, 1987, Judge David B. Dee entered an order denying the motion of defendant Pursell to set aside the Amended Order and Judgment of Quiet Title entered August 13, 1986 and denying the motion of plaintiffs to set aside the Order Extending Time to File Notice of Appeal. (RI 1117-1118). A copy of such Order is attached hereto.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Plaintiffs could not amend the Order entered by Judge Baldwin on May 5, 1980 for the following reasons:

(a) Plaintiffs failed to require defendant Pursell to appoint new counsel or appear in person before plaintiffs proceeded with their motion to set aside the order and enter judgment of quiet title in violation of Utah Code Ann. Section 78-51-36 (1953).

(b) Plaintiffs were not entitled to amend the order dated May 5, 1980 pursuant to Rule 60(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure because that rule requires that a motion for relief must be made within a reasonable time, and for certain reasons must be made within 3

months after the order or judgment was taken.

(c) The Amended Order and Judgment of Quiet Title entered August 13, 1986 is void because it purports to set aside the Order signed May 5, 1980 and to relate back and be effective as of May 5, 1980 in contravention of Rule 60(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

(d) The alleged error of failing to include reference to quiet title in the Order signed May 5, 1980 was not a clerical error subject to correction by motion pursuant to Rule 60(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

ARGUMENT

I. PLAINTIFFS FAILED TO REQUIRE DEFENDANT PURSELL TO APPOINT NEW COUNSEL OR APPEAR IN PERSON BEFORE PLAINTIFFS PROCEEDED WITH THEIR MOTION TO SET ASIDE THE ORDER AND ENTER JUDGMENT OF QUIET TITLE IN VIOLATION OF UTAH CODE ANN. SECTION 78-51-36 (1953).

Utah Code Ann. Section 78-51-36 (1953) provides:

When an attorney dies or is removed or suspended, or ceases to act as such, a party to an action or proceeding for whom he was acting as attorney must before any further proceedings are had against him be required by the adverse party, by written notice, to appoint another attorney or to appear in person.

According to the Affidavit of Lester A. Perry dated March 17, 1986 and filed with the District Court as Exhibit "A" to plaintiffs' Motion to Set Aside Order and Enter Judgment of Quiet Title,

On March 10, 1986, I spoke with Mr. Ronald C. Barker, the attorney of record for Ms. Purcell during the latter part of the litigation within the case at bar. Mr. Barker indicated that he no longer represented Ms. Purcell and wants nothing to do with her. . . .

Because plaintiffs' counsel was aware that the attorney of record had ceased to act as defendant Pursell's attorney, counsel was required to notify defendant Pursell to appoint new counsel or appear in person before proceeding with the Motion to Set Aside Order and Enter Judgment of Quiet Title. Accordingly, any actions by plaintiffs until counsel for defendant Pursell entered his appearance should be void.

II. PLAINTIFFS WERE NOT ENTITLED TO AMEND THE ORDER DATED MAY 5, 1980 PURSUANT TO RULE 60(b) OF THE UTAH RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE BECAUSE THAT RULE REQUIRES THAT A MOTION FOR RELIEF MUST BE MADE WITHIN A REASONABLE TIME, AND FOR CERTAIN REASONS MUST BE MADE WITHIN 3 MONTHS AFTER THE ORDER OR JUDGMENT WAS TAKEN.

Rule 60(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides, in part:

(b) **Mistakes; Inadvertence; Excusable Neglect; Newly Discovered Evidence; Fraud, Etc.** On motion and upon such terms as are just, the court may in the furtherance of justice relieve a party or his legal representative from a final judgment, order, or proceeding for the following reasons (1) mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect; (2) newly discovered evidence which by due diligence could not have been discovered in time to move for a new trial under Rule 59(b); (3) fraud (whether heretofore denominated intrinsic or extrinsic), misrepresentation or other misconduct of an adverse party; (4) when, for any cause, the summons in an action has not been personally served upon the defendant as required by Rule 4(e) and the defendant has failed to appear in said action; (5) the judgment is void; (6) the judgment has been satisfied, released, or discharged, or a prior judgment upon which it is based has been reversed or otherwise vacated, or it is no longer equitable that the judgment should have prospective application; or (7) any other reason justifying relief from the operation of the judgment. The motion shall be made within a reasonable time and for reasons (1), (2), (3), or (4), not more than 3 months after the judgment, order, or proceeding was entered or taken. A motion under this subdivision (b) does not affect the finality of a judgment or suspend its

operation. . . .

Plaintiffs' Motion to Set Aside Order and Enter Judgment of Quiet Title was made pursuant to Rule 60(b), although plaintiffs did not specify the exact reason for which they were entitled to relief. In their Memorandum of Points and Authorities in support of Motion to Set Aside Order of Dismissal and Enter Judgment of Quiet Title, plaintiffs argued:

Rule 60(b) allows the court to set aside an order or judgment for any reason justifying relief from the operation of the order or judgment. (R₁ 1017).

The only possible basis for setting aside the Order dated May 5, 1980 was that counsel for plaintiffs had not included a provision regarding quieting title in the Order that counsel for plaintiffs had prepared and submitted to the court. A motion to set aside an order due to mistake or inadvertance must be made within 3 months after entry of the judgment or order. If relief is granted under a provision of Rule 60(b) other than items (1), (2), (3), and (4), the motion must be made within a reasonable time after entry of the judgment or order. Plaintiffs did not allege and the trial court did not find that plaintiffs' motion, which was made nearly six years after the court signed the Order date May 5, 1980, was made within a reasonable time nor did the court enter any findings as to a reason justifying relief from the operation of the Order dated May 5, 1980.

III. THE AMENDED ORDER AND JUDGMENT OF QUIET TITLE ENTERED AUGUST 13, 1986 IS VOID BECAUSE IT PURPORTS TO SET ASIDE THE ORDER SIGNED MAY 5, 1980 AND TO RELATE BACK AND BE EFFECTIVE AS OF MAY 5, 1980 IN CONTRAVENTION OF RULE 60(b) OF THE UTAH RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE.

The Amended Order and Judgment of Quiet Title dated August 13, 1986 differed from the Order and Judgment of Quiet Title dated May 13, 1986 in several respects. The August 13, 1986 Order contained the following provision, not found in the earlier Order:

3. This Order shall relate back to and be effective as of May 5, 1980.

The Amended Order and Judgment of Quiet Title entered August 13, 1986 was based upon plaintiffs' Motion to Amend pursuant to Rule 60(b). Rule 60(b), however, provides, in part:

. . . A motion under this subdivision (b) does not affect the finality of a judgment or suspend its operation. . . .

The Amended Order and Judgment of Quiet Title could not relate back and be effective as of May 5, 1980 because that would affect the finality of the earlier judgment and suspend its operation. Accordingly, paragraph 3 of the Amended Order and Judgment of Quiet Title is void.

IV. THE ALLEGED ERROR OF FAILING TO INCLUDE REFERENCE TO QUIET TITLE IN THE ORDER SIGNED MAY 5, 1980 WAS NOT A CLERICAL ERROR SUBJECT TO CORRECTION BY MOTION PURSUANT TO RULE 60(a) OF THE UTAH RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE.

The Utah Supreme Court, in reviewing cases involving alleged errors in judgments, has distinguished between clerical errors and judicial errors. In Richards v. Siddoway, 471 P.2d 143 (Utah 1970), the defendant sought, ten years after judgment was entered in another case, to correct an alleged clerical error by an order in the case at bar. The Court, citing 46 Am. Jr. 2d Judgments §202, stated at page 145:

The distinction between a judicial error and a clerical error does not depend upon who made it. Rather, it depends on whether it was made in rendering the judgment or in recording the judgment as rendered.

The Court concluded that the trial court in the earlier case may have erred in giving the plaintiff the remainder of the land in question but that there was no clerical error involved. The error resulted from the failure of the judge to follow the written agreement signed by the parties. The Court pointed out that only the plaintiff and her father knew whether the decree entered by the court was according to their wishes and intentions. Neither of the parties appealed, and the judgment became final nine years before an answer was filed in the case at bar. The Court stated:

The record does not show that the judgment did not follow the findings of fact. Such an error must be corrected by a timely motion for a new trial, by timely appealing the matter, or by an independent action wherein all of the parties to the original proceeding are made parties to a new suit in equity.

In the instant case, plaintiffs' counsel prepared the Stipulation executed by the parties and the Order executed and entered by the court. The record does not show that the Order did not follow the Stipulation prepared by the parties. The error that plaintiffs allege occurred was not an error in recording the judgment but was an error in rendering the judgment (i.e., in preparing the Order that was signed by the court). Accordingly, under the reasoning of the Utah Supreme Court in Richards v. Siddoway, plaintiffs cannot correct the alleged error by a motion under Rule 60(a).

Plaintiffs-respondents also cited Stanger v. Sentinel Sec. Life Ins. Co., 669 P.2d 1201 (Utah 1983) in support of

their argument that the alleged error was a clerical error that can be corrected upon motion under Rule 60(a). The error in that case involved the calculation of the amount of the judgment. The Supreme Court, citing a federal district court, stated at page 1206:

"It is the type of mistake or omission mechanical in nature which is apparent on the record and which does not involve a legal decision or judgment by an attorney."
[Citation omitted.]

In the instant case there is no mistake apparent on the record. The Order entered by the court follows in every regard the written Stipulation prepared by plaintiffs' counsel and executed by the parties. Moreover, the alleged error was not a mechanical error involving the computation of a dollar amount, as was the situation in Stanger.

In Lindsay v. Atkin, 680 P.2d 401 (Utah 1984), the trial court signed an order submitted by counsel for a third party defendant dismissing the case with prejudice. After judgment was entered against the defendants, the defendants, having satisfied the judgment, instituted an action against the former third party defendant, apparently for indemnification or contribution. The former third party defendant raised the dismissal with prejudice as a bar to the action, and the defendants thereafter returned to the original trial court and moved, under Rule 60(a), to correct the dismissal with prejudice to one without prejudice. Again this Court cited Am. Jur. 2d to differentiate between a judicial error and a clerical error. The Court stated at page 402,

Rule 60(a) is not intended to correct errors of a substantial nature, particularly where the claim of error is unilateral. The fact that an intention was subsequently found to be mistaken would not cause the mistake to be "clerical." [Citations omitted.]

The Court then concluded:

In the instant case, the error complained of may not be characterized as "clerical." The court may have erred in granting Parrish Oil Tools a dismissal with prejudice, but the appropriate remedy was a timely motion to amend and/or a timely appeal to this Court.

In the instant case, the error complained of (i.e., that the Order should have been a judgment that quieted title in plaintiffs) is very similar to the error complained of in Lindsay, where Order of Dismissal was with prejudice. The alleged error is not clerical.

Finally, plaintiffs argue that the court ordered "quiet title" but that the subsequent written judgment omitted those words. The minute entry in the case states:

The within case settled as set out in the Record. (R_I 979).

The transcript of the conference before the judge, which was attached to plaintiffs' Memorandum of Points and Authorities in Support of Motion to Set Aside Order of Dismissal and Enter Judgment of Quiet Title, does not reflect any order of "quiet title" by the judge. The only reference in the record to quiet title is an uncompleted sentence by defendant's counsel. The settlement between the parties was described by defendant's counsel as follows:

In the two consolidated cases our stipulation is we dismiss all of our claims and counterclaims and rights of appeal and quit-claim any right, title or interest in and to the real property involved in exchange for a complete and total release by Blodgetts in both cases as to their

claims and as to their judgment.

That characterization of the settlement was not disputed by plaintiffs' counsel, and the rest of the hearing was spent dealing with the mechanics of implementing the stipulation. Contrary to the allegation of plaintiffs' counsel, there was no order of quiet-title.

Moreover, on or about January 18, 1980 plaintiffs filed a Motion for Judgment Against Defendant Betty Purcell, in which plaintiffs sought a judgment ordering the transfer of any and all interest of Betty Purcell and Raco Car Wash Systems in and to the property to the plaintiffs, the release to plaintiffs of the sum of \$2,450 on file with the Clerk's Office and finding defendant in contempt of court for failing to execute the quit-claim deed. Defendant Betty Purcell had refused to execute the Quit Claim deed on the ground that she did not have any interest in the property. Plaintiffs argued that counsel for defendant Betty Purcell had:

stipulated in open court than [sic] in exchange for a release of any claims by plaintiffs against said defendant, said defendant on behalf of herself and her corporations would execute a quit claim deed in favor of the plaintiffs to all of the property in question. (R₁ 982).

In plaintiffs' Motion there was no reference to an order for quiet title.

Even if there had been a more definitive reference to quiet title by the parties in the conference with Judge Baldwin, the subsequent Stipulation signed by the parties superceded any prior discussion concerning quiet title. The

Order signed by the trial court clearly places the instant in the same category as the Lindsay case.

CONCLUSION

Plaintiffs-respondents filed several motions with the trial court in an attempt to correct an alleged error in the Order entered May 5, 1980. If the alleged error was an error identified in Rule 60(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, plaintiffs-appellants failed to identify the nature of the error or to show that their motion to set aside that order was filed within a reasonable time after the Order was entered. Accordingly, the Amended Order and Judgment of Quiet Title entered by the trial court on August 13, 1986 was erroneous.

The alleged error was a not a clerical error under the prior rulings of this Court. Therefore, the Order and Judgment of Quiet Title entered by the Court on September 26, 1986 was in error.

Defendant-appellant requests the Supreme Court to reverse the Amended Order and Judgment of Quiet Title entered by the trial court on August 13, 1986 and the Order and Judgment of Quiet Title entered by the trial court on September 26, 1986.