1986

# William D. Blodgett and Florence G. Blodgett, his wife v. Joe Martsch, Betty Purcell, aka Betty Purcell Martsch : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Since Ms. Purcell quitclaimed all right, title and interest to the property to the Blodgetts more than two years ago, the fact that the Blodgetts have quieted title to that property in themselves causes no grievance of any sort to Ms. Purcell. Quieting title neither vests title nor increases the rights that the Blodgetts already had pursuant to the quitclaim deed, so Ms. Purcell has suffered no loss or injury. With no loss or injury, she has no standing to appeal from an order which merely corrected an old judgment. Moreover, since the initial litigation proceedings between the Blodgetts and Ms. Purcell involved the filing of a lis pendens by the Blodgetts, the resolution of the dispute over the property was binding upon Ms. Purcell and divested her of all claims of right, title or interest in that property.

Since the correction was not a "further proceeding" and since her prior attorney has neither died nor in any way been limited from practice in Utah, the Blodgetts were under

no statutory duty or obligation to advise her to obtain other title before correcting a clerical error in an old judgment. There is no irregularity in the procedure.

Courts have at any time the power to correct clerical errors under Rule 60(a); the error in question was merely that so the correction was proper. The fact that the Blodgetts initially referred to Rule 60(b) before correcting their application for corrective action does not give rise to an appealable issue or cause any problem in the corrected judgment.

#### ARGUMENT

##### I. A PARTY WHO HAS AGREED TO QUIET TITLE AND HAS QUITCLAIMED ALL RIGHT, TITLE AND INTEREST IN A PROPERTY SHOULD BE PRECLUDED FROM CONTESTING A CLERICAL CORRECTION TO A JUDGMENT

Since it is undisputed that the Blodgetts had filed a lis pendens in 1974 on the subject property, any interest which Ms. Purcell had against the property is subject to the lis pendens. Her interest was extinguished when the Blodgetts prevailed in their litigation against her, and she is bound by the results of the case.

Ms. Purcell agreed to a settlement which dismissed all claims and which provided for quieting title in the Blodgetts, as stated on the record of the trial court. She subsequently signed and delivered a quitclaim deed to the subject property. The quitclaim, by statute, abolished and surrendered all of her right, title and interest in the

property so quitclaimed to the Blodgetts. Utah Code Ann.

57-1-13 provides that

Such deed when executed as required by law shall have the effect of a conveyance of all right, title, interest and estate of the grantor in and to the premises therein described and all rights, privileges and appurtenances thereunto belonging, at the date of such conveyance.

The District Court, in two proceedings, has recognized that Ms. Purcell has no interest in the subject property: in this proceeding and in the Alco proceeding. The District Court recognized in that case that title had been quieted in the Blodgetts with respect to the claims there related to her. (An appeal is pending in that case, No. 860178CA.)

Consequently, Ms. Purcell lacks standing to object to the order and judgment which correctly reflects the title quieted in the Blodgetts. This appeal should be dismissed.

II. THE JUDGMENT TO QUIET TITLE DOES NOT  
ADD OR CONFER NEW RIGHTS ON THE BLODGETTS OR  
TAKE ANY RIGHTS FROM MS. PURCELL

Because of her quitclaim in settlement of complicated litigation, Ms. Purcell has no right, title or interest in the property. Consequently, she has suffered no injury whatsoever because the Blodgetts have corrected a judgment to reflect the terms of the settlement by quieting title in them. They gained nothing which they did not already have, and Ms. Purcell has lost nothing. If she has lost nothing, then she has no injury and no claim. She lacks standing, she lacks a

claim upon which relief could be granted, and she lacks any legal or equitable reason to justify this appeal.

Both Supreme Court decision and statute demonstrate that a quiet title action quiets an existing title and does not establish title. As the Supreme Court has determined:

We are compelled to conclude that the decree quieting title did not constitute a vesting of title. Our conclusion is premised upon the fact that a quiet title action, as its name connotes, is one to quiet an existing title against an adverse or hostile claim of another and not one brought to establish title. One seeking such equitable relief must allege title, entitlement to possession, and that the estate or interest claimed by others is adverse or hostile to the alleged claims of title or interest. Hence it is to be seen that the effect of a decree quieting title is not to vest title but rather is to perfect an existing title as against other claimants.

State, Etc. v. Santiago, 590 P.2d 335, 337-38 (Utah 1979)

(footnotes to citations omitted)

In this case, the Blodgetts were engaged in litigation adverse to Ms. Purcell and others. They had filed a lis pendens on the subject property. They resolved the case by settlement in open court, including quieting title to the property. Ms. Purcell quitclaimed. Title thus resided in the Blodgetts upon the settlement of that case. When the Alco litigation erupted and Alco tried to claim the property because Ms. Purcell had once had an interest in it, it was necessary for the Blodgetts to defend their property by correcting an old judgment to reflect the outcome of prior suits. Under



such circumstances, even though somewhat complex, only one simple conclusion can be reached: Ms. Purcell has lost nothing, the Blodgetts have gained nothing, and no new title has vested; title has only been perfected as it has existed for over a decade. This appeal should be dismissed.

III. CORRECTION OF CLERICAL ERRORS SHOULD NOT BE  
APPEALABLE; THE SUBSTANCE OF A TRANSACTION IS  
DETERMINATIVE OF ITS MERITS

When the Blodgetts were surprised by the efforts of Alco and its principals to take their property, they took immediate steps to rectify what was, in fact, a clerical or mechanical error in the recording of the judgment. While it was abundantly clear that all litigation had been resolved and that the Blodgetts were to retain the property which had been in question, the final dismissal order was a simple one, prepared in summary form to rid the parties of the burdens of further litigation and to dismiss all claims.

In conjunction with that settlement, Ms. Purcell, as stated, delivered her quitclaim deed. The mechanical error arose because the judgment did not record the oral settlement by reciting the formulary words "quiet title", although that was clearly the central term of the settlement and the reason why it was acceptable to the Blodgetts. Inadvertently, everyone relied on the simple settlement dismissing all claims with prejudice and the delivery of the quitclaim deed.

The Alco efforts to obtain the property revealed the oversight, justifying a correction under Rule 60. The motion

for the correction was originally brought under Rule 60(b), although it should have been done under Rule 60(a). This matter was discussed in District Court and rectified. The District Court clearly recognized the need to correct the clerical error. Such is the substance of the transaction; it does not give rise to an appealable order. Such corrections of errors may even be made after an appeal has been taken. See Bagnall v. Suburbia Land Co., 579 P.2d 917 (Utah 1978).

If this Court were to vacate the corrected judgment, thus requiring further proceedings below, then hearings on the meaning and terms of the settlement would occur. The result would undoubtedly be that the Blodgetts were entitled to quiet title, and an appropriate judgment reflecting the quiet title language would be entered. Ms. Purcell would, as here, have lost nothing in such proceedings--except the time and costs necessary to prolong litigation. She could gain nothing from those proceedings. Further proceedings in this matter would be superfluous. Indeed, it appears that the only possible motivation for the attempted appeal in this case is that Ms. Purcell knows that Alco and its principals are trying to collect against her in connection with her default on the loan to Zions; it would be much to her advantage if Alco could collect against property in which she no longer has any interest rather than against her current assets.

IV. THERE HAS BEEN NO VIOLATION OF STATUTE  
CONCERNING MS. PURCELL'S COUNSEL

Ms. Purcell's argument that the corrected judgment was taken against her improperly because she had no notice to obtain counsel is flawed. Utah Code Ann. § 78-51-36, the statute she cites, is limited to the situation "When an attorney dies or is removed or suspended" from practice. Ms. Purcell's former attorney, Ronald C. Barker, Esq., is a practicing attorney. The statute does not apply if the attorney has withdrawn from the case or if there are other circumstances in which he chooses not to represent a client; it applies only if he dies or is disbarred or otherwise removed or suspended from the practice of law. Van Cott v. Wall, 53 Utah 282, 170 P. 42 (Utah 1918), see also Security Adjustment Bureau, Inc. v. West, 20 Utah 2d 292, 437 P.2d 214 (Utah 1968).

Utah Code Ann. § 78-51-36 is further limited to the situation when "further proceedings" are to be had against the party whose attorney is no longer representing him. In this situation, the Blodgetts sought no "further proceedings." Rather, the Blodgetts sought to correct the judgment in the old and existing proceedings. They were simply reciting in their judgment that which Ms. Purcell and her counsel had agreed to before: that title be quieted in the Blodgetts. The correction of a clerical error or other mistake under Rule

60(a) cannot be construed as a "further proceeding." No violation of any obligation has occurred.

V. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ENTERED THE ORDER AND  
JUDGMENT TO QUIET TITLE PURSUANT TO  
RULE 60(a)

To correct the error in the original dismissal order, the Blodgetts served Ms. Purcell and filed on March 17, 1986 a Motion to Set Aside Order of Dismissal and Enter Judgment of Quiet Title under Rule 60(a). That Rule provides:

Clerical mistakes in judgments, orders or other parts of the record and errors therein arising from oversight or omission may be corrected by the court at any time of its own initiative or on the motion of any party and after such notice, if any, as the court orders.

(Emphasis added)

In Stanger v. Sentinel Sec. Life Ins. Co., 669 P.2d 1201, 1206 (Utah 1983), this Court construed Rule 60(a), defining a clerical mistake as one which is mechanical in nature, is apparent on the record and does not involve a legal decision or judgment by an attorney. The distinction between a judicial error and a clerical error does not depend upon who made it; rather, the distinction depends on whether it was made in entering the judgment (judicial error) or in recording or reflecting the judgment as rendered (clerical error). See Richards v. Siddoway, 24 Utah 2d 314, 471 P.2d 143, 145 (1970). Corrections contemplated by Rule 60(a) must be undertaken for the purpose of reflecting the actual intention

of the court and the parties. See Lindsay v. Atkin, 680 P.2d 401, 402 (Utah 1984).

Under the criteria set forth in Stanger, Richards and Lindsay, the omission of the quiet title language in the Dismissal Order constituted a "clerical error." The error was mechanical and occurred in the course of recording or reflecting a judgment, since the court agreed to a "quiet title" in the record but the written judgment neglected to recite the formulary words. Making the correction required no decision or judgment of an attorney; the correction arose naturally and from the plain records of the settlement which had been approved by Judge Baldwin. Certainly Ms. Purcell has no complaint about it since she has already delivered a quit-claim deed.

In Meagher v. Equity Oil Co., 5 Utah 2d 196, 299 P.2d 827 (1956), this Court reviewed a case in which the trial judge signed an order on the erroneous assumption that the order, as prepared by counsel, correctly reflected his judgment in the matter. The Supreme Court held that the execution of the order was a mistake of a perfunctory or clerical nature since the order did not accurately reflect the result of the trial court's judgment and that the trial court could and properly did correct the error upon its own motion.

In this case, the trial judge executed an order, assuming that all aspects of the settlement previously approved had been covered. The error was perfunctory and clerical.

cal. It was properly correctable by the Blodgetts' Rule 60(a) motion. This appeal is thus lacking in merit and should be dismissed. The corrected order should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Blodgetts respectfully request that this appeal be dismissed, that the judgment correcting the original dismissal order in their favor be affirmed and that the Court award them their costs, disbursements and counsel fees on this action. They seek such other and further relief as may be just and proper.